Ventura County

Cultural Heritage Board

Special Agenda
Monday, June 27, 2011

Notice is hereby given that on Monday, June 27, 2011, 9:00 a.m., the Board will
convene at the Ventura County Government Center located at 800 S. Victoria
Avenue, Ventura, in front of the Administration Building at the fountain for a tour
of Landmark No. 94 - Lathrop Camp (i.e. Sespe Ranch) 19737 Maricopa
Highway, north of Rose Valley, Ventura County. Thereafter, the Board will
convene a hearing at the same site. Public Invited.

. ROLL CALL
Patricia Havens, Ricki Mikkelsen, John Kulwiec, Don Shorts, Gary Blum, Stephen Schafer,
- Miguel Fernandez

. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
None

. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS
Discussion is limited to items not on this agenda which are within the purview of the Board.
Each speaker is allowed 5 minutes. Board may question the speaker but there will be no
_debate or decision. Staff may refer the matter for investigation and report. '

. CONVENE THE MEETING OF THE VENTURA COUNTY CULTURAL HERITAGE BOARD

a) Project No.11-344, Sespe Creek Ranch, LLC., 19737 Maricopa Highway, Rose Valley,
Ventura County, for New Garage Construction, Partial Demolition (904 square feet) of and
Addition (1788 square feet) to the Main Residence Designated as Landmark No. 94
Action: Consider Certificate of Appropriateness.

. DISCUSSION
a) Planning Division Updates and Informational Briefings
b) Comments from Board Members

. MEETING ADJOURNMENT

In Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to
participate in this meeting, please contact Nicole Doner at 805-654-5042. Reasonable advance
notification of the need for accommaodation prior to the meeting (48 hours advance notice is
preferable) will enable us to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this
meeting.



VENTURA COUNTY
CULTURAL HERITAGE BOARD
STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS
MEETING OF JUNE 27, 2011
ITEM NO. 4a

SUBJECT:

Certificate of Appropriateness Project No.11-344 for New Garage Construction, Partial
Demolition {904 square feet) of and Addition (1788 square feet) to the Main Residence
Designated as Landmark No. 94.

AGENT PROPERTY OWNER:
Hollee King Sespe Creek Ranch, LLC.
Planning Consulting Services James Zaleski
SitesPacific, Inc. 1474 E Mountain Dr
Hollee@HLKplanning.com Santa Barbara, CA
REQUEST:

The proposed project consists of the following:

Demolition of 904 square feet of cabins;

Removal of the flat metal roof and replace with a new pitched roof of cedar
shingles,

New residential construction of 1,788 square feet,

New covered porches of 676 square feet

New concrete foundation with radiant heating, and

Removal of existing casement windows and replace with new dual paned double
hung metal clad windows.

New Barn/Garage of 1,896 square feet

The existing residence was 2,976 square feet and the total size of the proposed
structure will be 3,854 square feet. The net addition after demolition is approximately
884 square feet. There will be no grading or removal of vegetation.

LOCATION AND ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBER:

The project site is located at 19737 Maricopa Highway, Rose Valley in the County
Unincorporated Area. The Assessor’s Parcel Numbers are 015-0-010-150, -160, -170,
and -180.
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BACKGROUND:

The 165 acre ranch known as the Lathrop Camp is located north of the Rose Valley and
adjacent to the Ojai Gun Club. The main cabin is believed to have been built with hand
hewn logs and Sespe River stones in the mid-1800s and used as a mail carrier stop
between San Joaquin Valley and Los Angeles. The earliest survey map (1885) shows a

‘cabin on the property but it is not known whether this is one of the original existing

cabins. The property was homesteaded in July of 1894 by William Roberts. Ownership
was eventually transferred to Paul and Herbert Lathrop who farmed the property in the
early 1900s. The younger Lathrop (Herbert) converted the ranch into guest quarters for
hunters and campers (referred to as Hotel Sespe or Hotel Lathrop). The camp’s past
owners include Rory Calhoun, television and film actor, the Boy Scouts of America, and
Sanford Drucker.

According to the County Landmark No. 94 records, the Lathrop Camp was originally a
group of three cabins, two with a common wall (Cabins 1 and 2). The third cabin faced
the others.  The cabins were later joined by a bathroom and an entry hall addition. Four
rooms were added in 1905 and others were added at a later date [Exhibit 2 -1984 DPR
and attachments and Exhibit 3- Lathrop Camp Report (LCR) page 12]. It appears the
cabins were remodeled between 1933 and 1935 based on a date etched on a corner
stone found in the lounge/sitting room stone wall [Exhibit 3 — LCR, pages 13 and 16]. At
that time, several rooms were added (Exhibit 3 — LCR, pages 14-16). In the 1960’s -
1970’s, the original roof was replaced with a tin roof (Exhibit 2).

Two other cabins exist on the property. One is a concrete block house built in the
1900s made up of four rooms called the manager’s cabin and a green cabin which is
believed to be built in 1955. The managers cabin is made of rock faced concrete
blocks simulating stone which appear to have been molded on site. Minimal changes to
these structures have occurred over the years.

In 1985, the County Cultural Heritage Board declared the original three cabins as a
Landmark, apparently deciding that the other additions in 1205 and 1935 were not
historically significant.

PROJECT ANALYSIS

The owner, Mr. Jim Zaleski, is proposing to remodel the main log cabins to meet current
building code, become self sufficient, reduce potential fire hazards to the residence by
improving the electrical and heating systems and improve the home’s energy efficiency
by using solar panels and green construction materials. The foIIowmg improvements to
the log cabin are proposed:

¢ The three original cabins (referred to as living room, dining room, and bedroom
2) will be restored and preserved (See As-BuiltyDemo Floor Plan).
¢ The 1905 stone pantry room will be converted to a kitchen and enlarged;
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Two 1905 rooms (north entry/bath and kitchen) will be partially demolished and
rebuilt due to rotted wood;

The remaining room additions (some possibly dating back to 1905) including the
master bedroom/bath, sitting room, bedrooms and bathrooms will be demolished
and rebuilt. The south wing and east entry (Bedrooms 3 and 4 and bath
constructed in 1935) will be replaced with a log structure using reclaimed (from a
100 year old barn in Wisconsin) cedar logs;

Underpin the existing logs with concrete footings, insert all-thread rods through
the logs for seismic stiffening, re-piumb leaning log walls;

Existing stone walls will be repaired and re-pointed;

Original interior pine ceiling and the Douglas fir flooring will be restored,;

Original flat corrugated metal roof will be replaced with a gabled split pitch roof
using fire retardant wood shake shingles;

Existing windows will be replaced with Marvin brand metal clad dual paned
double hung windows and the original glass blocks to be removed and reused in
other areas;

A new covered/screened porch on the north side will be added of 673 square
feet;

Brick fireplaces will be refaced using stone quarried from the site; and

A new addition of a dining room and mechanical room totaling 345 square feet.

Mr. Zaleski has researched the records and interpreted them as follows:

Only two cabins ‘were original and consisted of Cabins 1 and 3 (Exhibit 3 — LCR,
page 9)

Cabin 2 (shown as Rooms 2 and 3 on LCR, page 12), Room 1 {entry hall/bath),
and Room 4 (now referred to as the kitchen) were constructed as part of the four
room addition in 1905.

Stone store room (now referred to as a pantry) was constructed in the early
1900’s (LCR, page 16). :

Sitting room (a.k.a. lounge), east entry, fireplaces, three bedrooms and two
bathrooms were constructed as part of the1935 remodel (LCR, page 13). _
fn the 1950's to 1970’s a fourth bedroom was added and bedroom and bath #3
were remodeled either by Rory Calhoun or the Boy Scouts.

Staff Comment:

The 1984 DPR report and Landmark No. 94 file clearly indicates that three cabins
existed and were considered historic. The Cultural Heritage Board apparently decided
at the time, that the other additions in 1905 and 1935 were not historically significant.

Potential impacts to the historic resource:

Secretary of the Interior Standards and Guidelines Review As required by the Cultural

Heritage Ordinance, your Board must use the noted Standards to review Certificates,
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basing your decision on consistency of the project with them. The Standards explain
that when rehabilitating a building, the following is the order of priority for developing
plans:

. “Identify, retain and preserve features that define the historic character.

. Protect and maintain existing historic features.

. Repair when the physical condition of character-defining materials and
features warrant. _

. Replace when the level of deterioration or damage of materials preciudes

repair. If the essential form and detailing are still evident so that the
physical evidence can be used to re-establish the deteriorated feature,
then replace it.

o Design for missing features: Reproduce it if there are photographs, etc. If
not, then design a new feature that is compatible, taking into account size,
scale and materials.” :

Individual and Cumulative Effect- The Board must decide if the project adversely
affects the overall historic fabric of the Landmark designated cabins, and whether it,
either individually or cumulatively, would diminish its historic character of the site. The
Standards indicate:

"It should be remembered...that such loss of character is just as often caused by

the cumulative effect of a series of actions that would seem to be minor
interventions. Thus, the guidance in all of the "Not Recommended” columns
must be viewed in that larger context, e.g., for the total impact on a historic
building.” (Standards, p. ix)

Your Board must determine whether the proposed improvements, demolition, alteration,
and remodeling adversely affects the overall historic integrity of the site. Staff considers
most of proposed improvements will repair or replace damaged materials and will
extend the life of the structures. When an historic resource is proposed for alteration,
CEQA review is required only if there is a discretionary action needed for project
approval. This project requires approval of a ministerial action; therefore, CEQA is not
available as a tool to require consideration of altematives.

Cultural Heritage Ordinance

In taking the steps noted above your Board must also make the specific Ordinance
finding which logically follows to approve or deny the project.

For approval the following finding must be made:
Section 1366-3(a) states: “The proposed work will neither adversely affect the

significant architectural features nor adversely affect the character of historical,
architectural or aesthetic interest or value of the Cultural Heritage site.”
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OR For denial one or both of the following findings must be made:

Section 1366-7(a) states: “The proposed project is to remove or demolish a designated
Cultural Heritage site that is determined by the Cultural Heritage Board to be significant
and important to the history of the County.”

Section 1366-7(b) states: “The proposed project would adversely affect the historical
significance of the site or would not be compatible with the use and/or exterior of the
designated Cultural Heritage site.”

Staff Comment: Much of the demolition, alteration, and remodeling work has already
taken place. If the work had been done in accordance with County permit requirements,
- staff would have recommended the Board take action to require the owner hire an
architectural historian to complete a detailed site investigation to physically substantiate
the evidence necessary to: a) verify the construction date of additions; b) review the
later additions in their historic context, and c¢) determine the effect of the proposed
improvements and partial demolition to the site’s historic integrity. :

Since most of the proposed improvements will preserve the important elements (logs,
pine ceilings, Douglas fir flooring, etc) of the historic cabins, will increase the life of the
existing log cabins, make the cabins structurally sound, meet the building and fire
codes, and reduce potential fire hazards, staff recommends that the Board finds that the
proposed demolition, alteration, additions, and remodeling would not result in a
significant unavoidable adverse impact to cultural and historic resources. Your Board
must either agree or disagree with the staff finding that the demolition is not significant
impact. If the Board disagrees with the staff finding, then the Board could either deny
the Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) or condition the COA to require an
architectural historian, preservation-savvy architect, or engineer to review the project
and return to the Cultural Heritage Board to present alternatives to maintain the historic

integrity of the three cabins. - '

PUBLIC COMMENTS

No public comment regarding this application has been received

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS:

1. Conduct public hearing, hear testimony, and consider staff report;

2. Find the proposal is consistent with the Secretary of the Interior Standards and
the County Cultural Heritage Ordinance.

3. Find that the effect of demolition, remodéling, alternation and new additions
does not create a significant adverse impact; and
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4. Based on the preceding evidence and analysis, Staff recommends that your
Board make Ordinance findings by motion based on the evidence presented, to
approve the COA.

Prepared by:

Nicole Doner, Senibr Planner
805-654-5042

Attachments:

Exhibit 2- 1984 DPR and Attachments

Exhibit 3- Lathrop Camp Report completed by Mr. Jim Zaleski
Exhibit 4- Photos

Exhibit 5- Proposed Plans
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IDENTIFICATION . X
1. Common name: __Rainbow Valley Ranch - Circle B Ranch

2. Historic name: Lathrop Camp aka Hotel Sespe

3. Street or rural address: 19737 Rainbow Valley Road

City Qiai Zip 93023 County___vVentura

4, Parcel number: __ 015-0-010-140

5. Present Owner: Sanford I. Drucker Address: 2330 Century Hill o
City Los Angeles Zip 90076  Qwnership is: Public Private __ ¥
6. Present Usa: Private residence Original use: Farm, resort hotel, weathef statiéﬁ
DESCRIPTION

7a. " Architectural style: 3 log cabins, logs cut on the property
" 7b.  Briefly describe the present physical description of the site or structure and describe any major alterations from its
" - original condition:
The Lathrop Camp was originallya group of three cabins, two with a common
wall. The third cabin faced the others about &' east of them, the cabins
are now joined by a bathroom and entry hall. Cabin #1 is 26' 4" by 15!
and has a fireplace at the -west end. Cabin #2 with the common wall is
28" 6" by 15' 6". Cabin #3 is 20' 2" by 15' 5" with a fireplace. Four
rooms were added in 1905 and others at a later date. The original roof
line has been lost and there is a tin roof currently in need of repair.

Another house of cement block is on the property and local architects
have dated it to the early 1900's. This house has four rooms with 9!
ceilings. There is another cabin on the property that was built around
1955,

Attach Photo(s) Here 8. Construction date:
- Estimated _1890  Factual ____

9.  Architect

10. Builder

~| 11. Approx. property size {in feet)
Frontage Depth
or approx. acreage 160 4cres

12. Date{s) of enclosed photograph(s}
January 1984

DPR 523 (Rev. 4/79) . Exhibit2




13.

14,

15.

- 16.

17.

18,

Is the structure:

Condition: Exceilent Good Faijr

X _ Deteriorated

No longer in existence

4 rooms added in 1905, others at a later date

On its original site? _x = Moved?

Related features:

Alterations:
Surroundings: (Check more than one if necessary) Open land Scattered buildings X Densely built-up
Residential Industrial Commercial Other:
Threats to site: None known X__Private development Zoning Vandalism
Public Works project Other:
Unknown?

Apple orchard planted about 1898 .

"SIGNIFICANCE .
Briefly state historical and/or architectural importance {include dates, events, and persons associated with the site.)

18,

e Camp or "Hotel Sespe".

" the total number of rangers to 13.

The property was homesteaded in 1894 by William H. Roberts. Paul and Herbert

Lathrop were farming it in 1900.
and fishing.

station.

It became a popular resort known as Lathrop

It was a favorite spot to pack into for hunting

Herbert Lathrop was appointed a forest ranger in 1900, bringing.

In 1905 the property was a weather reporting
Herbert Lathrop was killed accidntly when he was shot on December 29, 1914,

.. The Ojai newspaper records many events regarding the property which will be included

20.

21,

22

on continuation sheets.

History is continued on attached pages.

Main theme of the historic resource: {If more than one is
checked, number in order of importance.)
Architecture __X_____ Arts & Leisure

Locational sketch mag {draw and label site and

Economic/Industrial ___ Exploration/Settlement
Government Military
Religion Sociai/Education

Sources { List books, documents, surveys, personal interviews

and their dates).
Survey map 3/31/85

Many newspaper articles listed on
continuation sheets

January 5, 1984
Joan L. Leister

Date form prepared

By {name}

Organization

Addrass: 19737 Rainbow Valley Road
City Gjai zip_ 93023
Phone: 647-2329

surrounding streets, roads, and prominent [andmarks}:
NORTH
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RATNBOW RANCH
(CIRCLE B RANCH)

LOCATION & DESCRIPTION

This property (Lot numbers 4 and 5, Section 4 and Lot numbers 1 and
8, Section 5, TSN, R22W) is located on the Upper Sespe, approximately
three miles east of Highway 33 on the Rose Valley-Piedra Blanca road
and two miles north of that road. The terrain is rolling hill to
steep north sloping terrain and vegetatively classed as chaparral

- country with pockets of pine on the north slopes, and cottonwood and
willow along the Sespe.

Plummer and Gonsell, who made the first inventory of Forest conditions,
estimated in 1905 that T5N, R22W had about 120,000 board feet of Big
Cone Spruce, but considered the stands old which were not reproducing
and noted that the trees had an average height of forty feet and about
145 years old. (Fred G. Plummer and M. G. Gonsell, Forest Cond1t1ons
in the Santa Barbara Forest Reserve, California, p 86.)

EARLY SETTLERS IN ROSE VALLEY-PIEDRA BLANCA AREA

Probably the earliest known resident in the area was Jeff (Jesse
Jefferson) Howard who first comes into the Ventura news in the winter
of 1875 for "cavorting around" Ventura saloons and landing in jail
(Charles F. Outland, Mines, Murders and Grizzlies, p 4)

By 1894, there were about thirty settlers' locations in the "Sespe
Country." (The Qjai, 1 August 1894) Most were only residents, some
stayed on to patent homesteasdss but many left after a year or two.

TRAILS TO ROSE VALLEY

What is now called The Gridley Trail, seems to have been the oldest
trail over the mountain. It started at Gridleys, 0jai Valley, went
past Maple Spring, Crystal Spring and Last Chance Spring, which was
the last water on the south.side before reaching the summit. At the
summit, Gridley's Trail joined Senior's Trail (the old Sespe Trail)
and continued down the steep and rough back side to J. G.[ Harrow's
place. From there the trajl ran through Howard Canyon to the Sespe,
from here the trail branched and went up and down stream. (The 0Ojai,
1 August 1894) The upstream branch joined the Cuyama Trail which
started at Blumberg's, went thvrough Matilija Canyon, took the upper
Fork, over Ortega Hill and down Cherry Canyon.




HOMESTEAD OF THE CIRCLE B

The property was homesteaded by William H. Roberts. His patent was
dated 9 July 1894 and recorded 29 March 1895 (County of Ventura,
Homestead Patents, Book 2, Page 222}

No check was made on the transfer of Deed, but apparently by 1900
the property was in the ownership of Paul Lathrop, who had at the
time several acres of truck gardens, an orchard, grain and alfalfa
fields which were watered by a 3500 foot water pipe from the Sespe,
a daijry herd from which he supplied the settlers and campers with
milk and butter, a neat and comfortable "old-fashioned" house with
a large fireplace and two barns (one was a large new one) (The Qjai,
16 June 1900)

That same year, Herb, his son was appointed a Forest Ranger {The
0jai, 11 August 1900)

It was not uncommon for these Rose Valley-Piedra Blanca settlers
to make some sort of guest accommodations for hunters and campers.
Ed Rich (who left the area in 1905), the Lathrops and Pattons all
had "Resorts" of a kind.

By 1905 Herb Lathrop had taken over the property and was building
a four room addition to his “Hotel" (either referred to as "Hotel
Lathrop" or “Sespe Hotel") (The Ojai, 22 April 1905. The Ojai
generally placed quotes around Hotel)

In. November 1914 Herb bought a player piano, dismantled it, packed
it over the mountain on muleback and reassembled it on his ranch.
(Ventura Free Press, 27 November 1914). A month later Herb, mis-
taken for a mountain lion was shot and killed (Ventura Free Press,
1 January 1915) (The above two items are from Charles F. Outland,
Chronological List of 0jai Valley News Items, 1871-1915

‘John K. Reid, an old time Forest Service Fire Guard, who patrolled
“the Upper Sespe in the late 1930's, remembers the ranch as “a guest
ranch of sorts" which was called the Circle B {letter, Reid to
Haase, dated 30 March 1984}

MATILIJA FIRE

Considered one of the most destructive fires in California history
(in acres),-the Matilija Fire started at 10:00 A.M. on 7 September
1932 in Matilija Canyon, about seven miles west of Lyons Hot Springs
and by the time it was out on 20 September it had burned a total of
219,254 acres.

Everything in its path was either destroyed or nearly destroyed.
Some ranch structures along the Upper Sespe survived but others
did not.



“Outlying barns and corrals of many small ranch properties in the
Howard Creek region have been wiped out, but to date the larger
ranch houses have been saved. Buildings surrounding the H. Lathrop
ranch and the Harrow Ranch were wiped out Saturday ?the 10th of
September). (Véntura Free Press, 12 September 1932)

TYPES OF BUILDING CONSTRUCTION IN VENTURA COUNTY BACKCOUNTRY

Ventura County's Backcountry produced a wide and rather distinctive
assortment of buildings-from caves {Benjamin Franklin McDonald's)
to finely built adobes {Jacinto Reyes') - The Tiff Mud Cabin was
made of mud and stone, The Ives Log House of logs sliced width-wise
. and caulked with mud, Henley' tepee made of honey cans and The
Sespe Hot Springs "Hotel" of scraps of shakes, burlap and canvas.

Pine timber was more abundant in the Rose Valley-Piedra Blanca area
and most structures seemed to have been of log with the exception
of John Kimball's Board House. He packed lumber in from Port
Hueneme by burro {The 0jai, 12 July 1893)

THE RAINBOW RANCH_LOG HOUSE

It is difficult to assess the age of the present log house. People
build, move, other people move in, rebuild and so on down the Tline.
The writer estimates that it was probably started around 1830 and
with each succession of owners deleted and/or added to. How much
was destroyed by the Matilija Fire is, to this writer, unknown.

The only portion of the log house that has any sort of antiquity
is the southwest corner of the main building.

Here the logs were placed on the ground without foundation. The
logs are hand-hewed and constructed in a rather unique double notch
corner-joint. This type of corner timbering is Scandinavian-Russian
and is characteristic of Russian log construction at Fort Ross,
Sonoma County.

As the logs were set down, a coarse type of cement/gravel was used
to "set-in" the logs which also acted as caulking. The writer
could not determine what type of material was used to keep the
cement in place but round machine-made nails were driven in to
support whatever it was.

SUMMARY

The present Rainbow Ranch Log house does not have real antiquity.
At the most it could be approximately ninety-four years old, but
this is doubted, considering the Matilija Fire and the many present
alterations and additions to it. 1In all 1ikelihood the structure
was rebuilt after the Matilija Fire.

The writer suggests that more research be done in terms of historic
facts and photographs to actually determine the age of the older
portion of the main structure. '

Ynez D. Haase
12 April 1984
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ATTACHMENT
HISTORY OF LATHROP CAMP

The earliest information regarding this property is in the form
of a survey map dated March 31, 1885, This map shows a house
on the property, but it is not known if it is the present one.

(I have chosen to use newspaper clippings and other written
information as opposed to word-of-mouth interviews to document
this property. I find person-to-person interviews can be
contradictory.)

1894 - The property was homesteaded by William H. Roberts.
His patent was dated July 9, 1894, and recorded March 29,
1895,
(Inez Haase, April 12, 1895)

1900 - Paul Lathrop is farming in the Upper Sespe. He has
3500"' of water pipeline, an orchard, grain field, a
dairy herd, a house with a fireplace and two barns,
one is new,.

{(The 0jai, June 16, 1900)

Herbert Lathrop has been appointed forest ranger,
making a total of 13 patrolmen.
(The Ojai, August 11, 1900)

1902 ~ On May 29, 1902, the property was transferred from
Melvin Hurst to Walter H. Lathrop.
(County Recorder's Office, Book 83, Page 234)

1904 - It is said that Herb Lathrop has been very industrious
lately in fixing up his ranch and cabin for his social
season. We hear, too, that he, with the help of Kellogg
and others,: has swept the porch, cleaned and got every-
thing in first class shape. A party comprised of Mrs.
Dickey, Miss Hopkins, Miss Grace Hopkins, Miss Averell,
Miss Horn, Miss Cochrane and Mr. Arnold went over a
week ago Wednesday, returning Thursday by Matilija.
They all declare they had the time of their lives,
and they think, as the boys do, that Sespe and Herb's
flapjacks are about right.

(The Ojai, Thatcher School News, March 26, 1904)

Herb Lathrop came across the mountains from his popular
"Hotel Sespe" to take in the 4th. He found Nordhoff
deserted. The people all gone teo Ventura, stores
closed, and the only one that met his anxious gaze

was Mr. Raddick sitting in fromt of his billiard hall.
(The Ojai, July 7, 1904)



1905 - Herbert Lathrop came across the mountains :Thursday

1906

1907

and reported the total rainfall at his place was 17.09
inches. This does not include the last few days' rain.
{The Ojai, February .4, 1905)

Lathrop is building a 4 room addition to his "Hotel."
(The 0Ojai, February 18, 1905

Herb Lathrop the "Sespe Hotel" manager, passed through
Nordhoff on his way to Los Angeles Thursday evening.
Herbert says he is not bothered with automobiles in his
country.

(The Ojai, April 22, 1905)

Paul Lathrop, who returned about two weeks ago from

an extended trip east, is much improved in health.

He visited Buffalo, N. Y., Leavenworth, Kansas and
many other eastern places. He brought with him Herbert
Lathrop, his brother from Willink, N. Y., and Ed Hull,
an old friend from Leavenworth, Kansas.

(The Ojai, January 13, 1906)

The Sespe trip last week was one of the most enjoyable
ones of the winter. The party consisted of Mr. Colton,
Park Arnett, Whitall, Star and the Allens. After
exploring the caves and crevices of Peidra Blanca

on Saturday, the party went back to Lathrop's, where
they heartily partock of the refreshments served by
the genial "Herb." The cravings of the inner man

thus satisfied, everyone forgot his tired limbs in

an exciting game of seven and a half, which lasted
well into the: night.

(The 0Ojai, Thatcher School News, March 3, 1906)

Paul Lathrop returned Wednesday from New York where
he spent the winter.
(The Ojai, June 16, 1906)

Herbert Lathrop reports nearly six inches of rainfall
on the banks of the Sespe.
(The Ojai, December 15, 1906)

Herbert Lathrop came over the moutain Thursday as a
guide to a number of Thatcher School students, who
had spent their vacation in the Sespe. Herb reports
fifteen inches of rain in the recent storm.. He also
reports more snow in the mountains than he has seen
in a long time. Pine Mountain is completely covered,
with only the white enameled pines projecting through
the white crust.

(The 0O4jai, January 12, 1907)

-2



1912

1914

Last Saturday, after dinner, a party consisting of
Sperry, Wilkinson . and A. Kent started for the Sespe,
accompanied by Mr. William Kent and Mr. Greene. On
the way over, Mr. Kent's horse fell with him this

side of Harrows, but no damage was done. They arrived
at Lathrop's Camp about 6:30. Here they found Miss
Slater, Mrs. Hunt, Hertenstein and Slater.

- (The 0Ojai, Thatcher School News, April 13, 1907)

Messrs. Jesse Maddrell, George C. Bartlett and H. Wolfe,
Oxnard businessmen, stopped at the Ojai Inn Thursday

cn their way to Lathrop Camp to spend a few days fishing.
(The Ojai, June 8, 1907)

Herbert Lathrop, who came in from the Sespe Thursday,
salid that he had 100 boxes of apples from the first
picking. This is all the fruit that can be stored

for the winter and sold next spring when the price

will justify bringing them out. Besides these Herb will
have another 100 boxes of apples fit to be used for
cider and stock feed.

(The Ojai, October 12, 1907}

The prevailing high price of apples - has induced Herb
Lathrop to pack some of his excellent fruit out from
the Sespe.

(The Ojai, December 14, 1907}

Paul Lathrop, father of Herbert, died of a stroke
at the 0jai Inn on March 3, 1912, It was noted in
the O0jai paper on April 5, 1912.

Herbert Lathrop, aged 38, and Mary V. Harrow, age 17,
were married in Los Angeles last Saturday. This came

as a surprise to many who did not know Herlk was inclined
to matrimony.

(The Ojai, June 28, 1912)

Herb Lathrop and wife and baby are over from their
home in the Sespe. The baby, who is not quite a year
0ld, is becoming quite adept at horseback riding,

this being his eighth trip over the trail. Mr. and
Mrs. Lathrop are enroute to Los Angeles where they are
taking their son for medical treatment.

(The Ojai, January 2, 1914)

In November, 1914, Herb bought a player piano, dismantled
it, packed it over the mountain on muleback and reassembled
it on his ranch.

(Charles Outland, Chronological List of Ojai Valley

News Items, 1871-1915)




1932

"HERBERT LATHROP FATALLY SHOT BY ACCIDENT", headlines
of the January 1, 1815 paper. Herbert Lathrop was
shot by friend, Floyd Perritt, pitcher for the Los
Angeles Nine. He mistook him for a wildcat.

There was a question brought up regarding the age
of the cabin. The cabins were built sometime either
late 1800's or very early 1900's.

The method of putting the logs together is of Swedish
handhewn dovetailing. The logs were cut on the property
and were handhewn with a broadaxe. The entire building
was first put on the ground, but to help in the preserva-
tion it was raised to a foundation. The corner referred
to by Ms. Haase has never been raised, but will be

in the near future. In the book, Living With Logs,
Hancock House Publishers, by Donovan Clemson, there

is an excellent article and illustration of this type

of construction.

The Matilija fire was also a question. After being
assured by William Friend that the building was not
burned, I conducted more research and found an article
in the 0Ojai newspaper which follows:

The Lathrop barn, hay and outbuildings burned Sunday
and the Harrow barn, hay, chicken house and other
outbuildings went but the houses in both cases were
saved.

(The Ojai, September 15, 1932)

JOAN L. LEISTER, Caretaker

June,

1984
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1.0 Background & History

1.1 Background
The property was purchased by James V. Zaleski on August 15, 2005 from Dorothy

Fielding. The property was called Rainbow Ranch and appears that way on the USFS
topographic map. Ms. Fielding purchased it on 1995 from Stanford Drucker who in turn
had purchased it from the Los Angeles chapter of the Boys Scouts of America in 1979.
The Boys Scout named the ranch Circle B Ranch. Prior to that it had been owned by
Rory Calhoun the movie actor who operated the ranch as a guest ranch under the name
Rocking Star Ranch. Mr. Calhoun sold the ranch to the Boys Scouts in 1968. It is not
clear when Calhoun purchased the ranch from but it might have been form the Lathrop’s
who acquired the ranch in 1902. Lathrop operated the ranch as a fish and game resort
under the names Lathrop Camp and Hotel Sespe starting in 1905. Prior to that the
property was homesteaded by William Roberts in 1894. In May, 2010 Zaleski renamed
the ranch, Sespe Creek Ranch and transferred the title to the Sespe Creek Ranch LL.C
which is owned by Mr. Zaleski and his wife Beverly.

Sespe Creek Ranch consists of four 40 acre parcels 015-0-010-150, 160, 170, & 180. It
has permitted access over a USFS road of about 1 mile which then continues another %
mile to the cabin site which is on parcel -180. The address of the ranch is 19737
Maricopa Hwy, Ojai, CA 93023. The mail box is located about 15 mles away near the
Wheeler Springs USRS ranger station. The four parcels have a common water agreement
to a well located on parcel -014 and a 23,000 gallon water storage tank located on parcel -
180. [n addition the ranch has historical riparian water rights to the Sespe Creek. There
are dilapidated stables located on parcel -140. There is a second well on the property on
parcel -140. The ranch is an off-grid, self sufficient ranch with no public utilities. Solar
PV panels provide the electrical power, water 1s provided by well, and there are septic
tanks for sanitation. There is also a propane tank on the property. Cabin heating is
currently by wood bumning and propane but the project plans to change to solar hot water
space heating.

The cabin site on parcel -180 consists of five structures: 3,000 sq ft main cabin, 1,400 sq
ft managers cabin, 600 sq ft other cabin, 200 sq foot tool shed, and a 200 sq ft screened
enclosure on piers. Only the main cabin is registered as the Ventura County Historical
Landmark #94 which was designated as such in 1984 and is the subject of the restoration
and remodel project.

The structures were in disrepair when Zaleski took over the ranch. Clean up was done
and repairs made to the main cabin over a several years. Repair and clean up was also
done to the managers cabin which has been redesignated the “Guest Cabin”. During the
winter of 2009 rain collapsed the roof of the main cabin in the kitchen and a bedroom
area. During “Do it yourself” repairs more structural rotting was discovered and the
repair project was expanded to bedrooms in the south wing of the cabin. Ultimately a
decision was made to remodel the main cabin in its entirety with the goal of restoring the
historic portion of the cabin. Plans were drawn up and completed in the fall of 2010.



1.2 History

The ranch is located in a valley north of Rose Valley below Pine Mountain and is
surrounded by the Los Padres National Forest. The Sespe Creek flows through the
property.

There is a significant history file on the ranch can be found in the Ventura County
Historical files so only a brief overview will be reported here.

It is said that the main cabin was constructed between 1830 and 1860 (5.1) and was used
as part of a mail carrier trail that ran along the Sespe Creek from the San Joaquin Valley
to o the Los Angeles area (5.2). The first recorded evidence of a cabin was when
William Roberts applied for a homestead on July 9, 1894 (5.3). Paul and Herbert Lathrop
farmed the property in 1900 and in 1902 ownership was transferred from Melvin Hurst to
Walter Lathrop. 1t is reported that the cabin was first shown on a survey map dated
March, 1885 but the location of this survey map i1s unknown. The cabin is shown below
on the 1903 USG survey map which was reprinted in 1932,

Herbert Lathrop turned the ranch into resort known as Lathrop Camp or Hotel Sespe. He
was killed in a hunting accident in 1914. The property stayed in the Lathrop family and
the main cabin survived the Matilija fire in 1932. Rory Calhoun the movie actor
purchased the property in the 1950°s converting it to a guest ranch called the Rocking
Star Ranch.
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2.0 Remodel & Restoration Objectives

2.1 Project Scope

The purpose of this project is to remode! the main cabin bringing it up to current building
standards; fully develop its self sufficiency capabilities; improve its green profile;
improve fire protection; and restore the historical properties of the structure.

Electnical — existing electrical old, unsafe wiring will be replaced with UL wiring meeting
all building codes. Surface mounted wiring in the log wall rooms will be removed and
replaced with in-wall/in-slab wiring thereby reducing safety hazards.

Plumbing — stained and leaky fixtures will be replaced; old, corroded, not insulated
galvanized pipes with be replaced with up to code PVC pipe and pex; pipes will be
insulated and in-slab or in-wall be not in exterior walls. The winter of 2007 was harsh
and five pipes inside the cabin froze and burst.

Heating — is the biggest problem and prevents comfortable four season use. Heating is by
wood burning fireplaces, a wood burning stove, and supplemental propane heaters.

When arriving in the winter, the interior cabin temperature is about 42F and it takes about
8 hours of wood burning to get up to 60F. Overnight the temperature will drop back
down to 50-55F. There is no thermal insulation in the log rooms where the wood ceilings
have corrugated metal over them serving as the roof. The windows are single pane. A
new roof will be installed with an attic space and a minimum of R19 insulation
throughout. All windows will be replaced with dual pane windows. Heating will be by
solar hot water space heating using in-floor radiant heating.

Self-Sufficiency — with an upgraded structure a 100% “off-grid” capability can be
achieved: electrical service via PV solar panels and batteries; solar hot water space
heating using radiant in-floor heating; improved plumbing for personal consumption of
well water and efficient septic tank use.

Improved green profile — solar hot water space heating will replace prior heating via
wood burning fireplaces and stoves reducing air pollution to zero; propane use will be
minimized with a goal of zero usage; teaky sewer lines will be repaired or replaced.

Improved fire protection — fire protection is improved with construction methods meeting
all building codes for high fire areas.

Restore historical properties of the main cabin — demolish and replace inappropriate
“non-historic” two bedrooms and one bath with a larger single bedroom and bath using
reclaimed, antique timbers to create a log structure on the south side opposing the historic
log structure to the north. Replace the flat corrugated metal roof with a historic gabled,
split pitch roof using fire retardant wood shake shingles. Replace rotted logs, underpin




the logs with concrete footings, use all-thread through rods through the logs for seismic
stiffening, and replumb leaning log walls. Repair, repoint, and improve existing stone
walls. Repair the fireplaces by replacing frozen-open dampers, correct masonry/wood
clearances. and reface fireplace fronts with stone quarried from the site. Restore the
flooring including the stone and wood areas. Douglas fur wood flooring was covered
with glue-down linoleum or was painted. In the process installing new roof structure, the
wood ceilings were removed, numbered and stored for installation when the roof1s
complete. The antique wood burning stove and kitchen cook stove will be repaired and
restored; the any other fixtures that are salvageable will be restored and reused.

In total the project consists of:

2976 sq ft existing as-built cabin
904 sq ft of area to be demolished
1788 sq ft of new construction
3854 sq ft total finished area

676 sq ft covered porches



2.2 Historic Lathrop Cabin
The historic Lathrop cabin site and main cabin are shown below.

Lathrop Cabin Site

Main Cabin Manager Cabin Telegraph Line Unknown Cabin




Below is a drawing showing the three capins per Uns nistoricdi iceunu.

Three Cabins

b abe ) e i Catin 3

e

Another interpretation of cabin 1 and “cabin 2 which had a common wall with cabin 17 is
that cabin | and cabin 2 was simply a one multi-room cabin. It is not known why two
structures with a common wall would be considered two separate cabins rather than a
multi room single cahin. Since the record states the Lathrop added four rooms a plausible

explanation of the cabin early history would be:



¢ 1900 cabin consisted of one 20°2” x 1575” cabin to the east and one 26°4” x 15’
cabin to the west separated by 8’

¢ In 1905 Lathrop added four rooms; this could be the entry/bath filled in between
the two cabins plus three rooms which encompassed the area previously called
cabin 2 with an size of 2876 x 15°6”; in reality this arca was discovered to be
larger when the kitchen walls were opened up showing logs that outline another
10 x 14 area to the south.

The following photos show the logs extending south toward the stone room and forming
another 10 x 14” area.
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East Beam
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Below is a drawing showing this interpretation of two cabins with the four rooms added.

Two Cabins with 4 Rooms Added
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1935 Lathrop Family Remodel

It appears that the Lathrop family remodeled and improved the cabin in 1935, This is
evidenced by a comner stone dated as such as shown below. Unfortunately the photo
taken has the corner stone temporarily covered by wall studding.

The date stone is in the SE corner of the lounge room stone wall which shows this room
was added during the 1935 remodel. A fireplace is included with a red brick chimney so
this must have been added at that time. One can then assume that all the other red brick
chimneys in the cabin were installed during this remodel including the living room,
bedroom #1, bedroom #2, and bedroom #3. The three bedrooms all have 2x6 rough
redwood framing and red brick chimney fireplaces so it can be assumed that these three
rooms were added during the 1935 remodel. The earliest interior photos are from 1984
and they show lannon stone facing on the fireplaces. This facing was either applied
during the 1935 remodel or afterwards by either Mr. Calhoun or the Boy Scouts because
lannon stone was a popular material in the 1950’s — 1970’s.

The 1935 remodel would have resulted in the following alterations and additions:

1935 Lathrop Remods|
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In addition the chinking in the log rooms was reworked during this remodel. The rework
of the log chinking was discovered while examining the log walls. The original 3-4”
wide chinking was reworked on the interior side of the walls with wood inserts to made
the chinking narrower. This results in “double chinking” making the walls smoother
which provides a more finished look for the interior walls. [n the process of doing this,
newspaper was used for insulation so a 1933 edition of the Ventura County Star and
September 9, 1934 edition of the Los Angeles Examiner were found between the logs.

Exterior side normal chinking
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Wood fill strips with newspaper insulation
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Newspaper for insulation

Revised Historic Record
Based on these investigations and findings a revised historical record would be
established:

1900 — two log cabins existed and date of construction is unknown but some speculate
the mid-1800°s and that “they were used by mail couriers from the San Joaquin Valley
who ran their horses “pony express style” along the trails along the Sespe Creek to reach
the Los Angeles area” (5.2). The east cabin 1s 207 x 1575 and the west cabin 1s 26°4™ x
157, The cabins are separated by 8" and “a stable sat between the two buildings and this
was the alpha and omega of the Sespe way station where the couriers exchanged their
horses™ (5.2).

1905 — Lathrop added four rooms on to the west cabin which are shown on the As-Built
drawings as the entry/bath between the cabins, dining room, open room. and kitchen. At
sometime a stone store room as added.

1935 — Lathrop family added the lounge room, east entry, bedroom #2, bath #2, bedroom
#3, and bath #3 as shown on the As-Built drawings. They also reworked the log
chinking.

1960-197(s — bedroom & bath #3 were remodeled, and bedroom #4 was added.

2011- Main cabin remodeled and restored per the plan
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Historic and Non-historic structures

Whatever way one believes the main cabin evolved, the historic rooms are the same and
the existing main cabin is a blend of historic and non-historic structures. For the
purposes of this project the term “historic” relates to the historic time period of the
Lathrop Camp landmark in the 1905. This is different than the Ventura county definition
of *historic” which means any structure over 50 years old.

The approach of this project is to restore and preserve the historic rooms and replace the
non-historic rooms with new construction using an architectural design and materials that
are consistent with the historic structures.

Using this definition the historic rooms are the three log rooms and stone store room. All
other rooms are non-historic including those rooms added in the 1935 remodel and later.

The project scope then is as follows:

Rooms to be demolished and rebuilt — north entry, north bath, master bath, kitchen, east
entry, south wing bedrooms and bath

' Raoms to be Demoiished ’ ST e
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W
)
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Historic Rooms to be Restored — bedroom #1, living room, dining room, and stone store
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Non-historic Rooms to be Restored or Rebuilt— north entry/bath, master bedroom & bath,
breakfast, kitchen, east entry, south wing bedroom and bath

tNon Histornc Rooms 10 be Restored or Rebuilt

) \ Hasrer BR 3 famtn | o

K Bath
| Lounge i ——
""""" Brwrsr
Enmry I
[
Horcine Bezroo™ & e
Bain
i
-
N 14 ‘

18



New Rooms to be Added — Dining room and mechanical room

N‘ew Rooms Added
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2.3 As Bailt Main Cabin

Below is an elevation drawing of the cabin exterior as it existed prior to restoration and
remodeling in 2010.

The classic gabled, split pitch roof was lost over the years and was replaced with an
almost flat corrugated metal roof. The roof was raised two feet above the log walls.
Clear story windows were added in the living room and the south wing bedroom #3 was

remodeled and bedroom #4 was added. The logs were painted red as was the entire
building.
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Below are photos of the building exterior prior to the start of the project.
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2.4 Proposed Remodeled cabin

The proposed remodeled cabin is shown below. Pertinent features include: the gabled,
split pitch roof restored, the corrugated metal roof replaced with cedar shake, replacing
the windows throughout with dual pane windows, the covered porch on north side rebuilt,
south bedroom wing replaced with a log structure using reclaimed antique logs, stone
store room incorporated into the main cabin structure, brick chimneys refaced with stone
quarried from the site, and paint removed from the logs restoring their natural color.

[ -
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3.0 Demolition & Rebuilding

As previously mentioned for purposes of this project the term “historic” applies to those
structures of the time frame of the Lathrop Camp historic landmark in 1905. The “non-
historic™ structures consist of additions and remodeling during and after 1935.

3.1 Demolition of Non-Historic Rooms

The non-historic structures demolished are shown on the demolition plan below and
include: the master bathroom, north side entry/bath, kitchen, east entry, and south wing
consisting of bedrooms #3, 4 and a bathroom.

Rooms to be Demolished
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The demolition occurred in May, 2010. At first it was thought that some of the materials
could be kept and reused as such the early demolition was done by hand. But that turned
out impractical because the building materials used was of low quality and much if it
rotted and unusable when the walls and ceiling were opened up. So equipment was
brought in to do the demolition. Dumpsters were used and all debris was hauled away
and properly disposed of by MarBorg Industries

24



The rooms demolished are shown below before demolition.

North Entry/Bath

These were seriously rotted and had to be removed. However only the north wall and the
bath north and south walls were removed because the east and west wall are log walls
common with the east bedroom and living room.

North Entry
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North Entry Bath #1

B\

Kitchen
Photo sh_ows colla
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Kitchen west wall

East Entry
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Bath #2 (Master Bath)
Exterior photo is shown below because no interior photos exist.

South Wing Bedroom #3
This was added in the 1935 remodel and reworked in the 1960-1970"s with 2x4 walls

with drywall and slab flooring. The fireplace was covered over with drywall

28



South Wing bathroom #3
Photo taken during demolition. no other

nhotos available

SouthWiqg_Bedroom #4
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3.2 Restore & Rebuild Cabin
Below is the proposed floor plan for the new, rebuilt and restored main cabin. Some of
the room names or functions have been changed as follows:

As Built Name New Name
Bedroom #1 Guest Bedroom
Bath #1 Remodeled Bath
Dining Office

Sitting Lounge

not labeled Gaming
Kitchen Breakfast/Entry
Pantry/Storage Kitchen

Entry Main Entry

30



In addition to restoring and rebuilding specific rooms, several other construction elements
have been undertaken and have significant impact.

New Roof

The construction of the new roof over the entire building footprint required the temporary
removal of the wood ceilings in the rooms that are not to be demolished. The wood
ceiling planks and beams were removed and are stored for reinstallation upon completion
of the roof.

Wood ceilings — wood planks and beams

. ﬂ'.




Wood Flooring
Installing concrete slabs for the radiant in-floor heating necessitated the removal of

the floors throughout. The floors in the historic log rooms were wood and in the non-
historic and stone room were concrete. The wood flooring was removed and is stored
for reuse in a glue down on slab 1nstallat10n

However when the wood flooring was removed from the log rooms, it was found the
whole logs were used for the floor joists. Since slab are being used in these rooms the
log floor joists were removed. This is the only part of the project where historic
elements were removed from the cabin. While not being reused as floor joists it 1s
planned to reuse these logs for repair of the log walls as needed.

Log Floor Joists
Living room & dining room

32



Dining room area — floor joists logs were replaced a 1990°s repair
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Log floor joists saved for use in log wall repair

Windows

All the windows in the cabin were removed and will be replaced with energy efficient
and fire rated dual pane glass windows. In addition glass blocks were removed from
the structure and are restored for reuse in other areas.

34



Fixtures

Typically in a restoration project various fixtures are removed for reuse. However in
this case the only a few fixtures were found to be reusable and they are a wood
burning pot belly stove, kitchen cooking stove, and a few light fixtures.




Log Refinishing

The logs were painted red in the past and the paint was removed and the natural color
and finished of the logs restored.
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3.2.1 Restoring Historic Rooms

lii
. -
Historic Rooms to Be Reslored o R
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Living Room
The living room will be basically unchanged except the fireplace is to be refaced with

stone quarried from the site and a window is changed to a door to access the new
screened porch.
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New Screened Porch

A new screened porch has been added to replace the original porch that was lost over the
years.

Bedroom #1 (Fast Bedroom)
This room is basically the same except that the fireplace is being refaced with stone that
is quarried on site.

In addition some of the logs in the west and east walls have rotted and the wall is sinking
so the log wall will be repaired.
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Repaired half of south wall

Office/Game Room
These rooms will be left as is except for the reflooring and new windows.
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3.2.2 Rebuilding of Non-Historic Rooms
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North Entry/Bath

Because these rooms were rotted especially in the bathroom, these rooms were partially
demolished leaving the east and west log walls which are common with bedroom #1 and
the living room. The entry plank door has been saved tor reuse in the same location.

Master Bedroom (Bedroom #2)

This room is basically the same except that the fireplace i1s being refaced with stone that
is quarried on site. In addition the north wall 1s pushed out 5° and a door added to access
the screened porch.
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Master Bath
This room is being rebuilt from scratch in a new location to the west of the master
bedroom.

Lounge
This room is basically the same except that the fireplace is being refaced with stone
that is quarried on site.

Breakfast
This room is being rebuilt from scratch and is effectively new construction.
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Kitchen

The kitchen is being relocated in the stone store room which is being enlarged. As

such half of the stone wall was removed and will be reinstalled. The cooking stove
will be restored and reused.
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East Entry. South Wing Bedroom and Bath #3

These rooms are effectively new construction. The perimeter walls were built using
antique, reclaimed cedar logs from a 100+ year old barn from Manitowoc, Wisconsin.
They were supplied by Mountain Lumber Company in Virginia.
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New East Entry
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3.2.3 Adding New Rooms
Two new rooms are being added.

Dining room
This is new construction with the room being added west of the as-built kitchen.

Mechanical Room
The mechanical room houses the electrical panel, in-floor heat pumps and valves, boiler,
and water storage tanks.
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4.0 Completed Project

The project when completed will have restored and preserved a historic landmark.
replaced non-historic, inappropriate portions of the structure with historically compatible
design and materials, and will have enhanced the owner’s use and quality of living.
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5.1
GREENWOOD AND ASSOCIATES
723 JACOH WAY
PACIFIC PALISADES, CALIFOARMIA Q0272
(213] 434-3081 OR B79-579]
| February 25, 1986 | Lo
' .
County of Ventura . area ..
Resource Management Agency Y
Pl ing Division SRS

Attention: Mr. Ron Allen
800 S. Victoria Ave.
Venkura, CA 93009

Re: Archaeological Survey of the
Drucker Property along Sespe
Creek, Ventura County
Dear Mr. Allen:

This letter report summarizes the results of a Phase 1
arcpaeological survey of the Sanford I. Drucker property
(Township 5 North, Range 22 West, and portions of Sections 4 and
5) in Ventura County, California. The field work was conducted
by John M. Foster, Principal Investigator and Enid Robinson crew
member. The field work was performed on February 25, 1986.

The project area is located on private land within the Los Padres
National Forest in a area north of Rose Valley and overlapping
Sespe Creek. As per your instructions Greenwood and Associates
did not conduct any survey of the ridge tops or areas north of
Sespe Creek, In addition there was no evaluation of the
hisﬂorical resources within the overall project area.

Background research for the project consisted of reviewing maps
at the Archaeological Clearinghouse at the Archaeclogical Survey,




University of California at Los Angeles. One known historical
site a circa 1830 to 1860 1log cabin is known to be on the
property.

The field work consisted of an intensive surface survey of the
project area as per your regquest of .  Feburary 21, 1986.
Essentially this consisted of pad 'A' and a 100 meter area
immediately south of Sespe Creek (Figure 2) which extended along
the length of the project area. Portions of the project area in
the north'(diagonal lines, Figure 2) could not be intensively

surveyed‘due to steep slopes and dense vegetation. Vegetation
consisted of a dense growth of chaparral and riparian plants with
a ground visibility of approximately 20%. During the

investigétion of pad 'A' two gquartzite rocks (core and flake?)
were observed that may have been modified by prehistoric
inhabitants. Although these items may have been the result of
purposeful use their ambiguous nature ie., lack of well defined
flake scars and indication of usage suggests that they may also
be natural. Several geotest pits within the area of the pad were
examined for further evidence of cultural materials. None were
observed. TLacking corroborative data these items are interpreted
as not being of cunltural manufacture. '

It is the conclusion of this report that no cultural resources
will be adversely affected by expected impacts. If further
development is planned, outside the boundaries of the surveyed
area, it is recommended that additional archaeological surveys
and evaluations be conducted, particuiarly on the ridgetops and
flats north of Sespe Creek.

If you have any questions, do not hesitate to call.
Sincerely,
Greenwood and Associates

John M. Foster
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Express stop: The ranch house nestled under pine trees, left,.is a comfortable-place-and a survivor of natural disasters.

Exclusive ranch |
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~dinbow Valley Rauch high

wowe Ujal s certainly exclu-
ve.

Plus, the Scspe runs right
rough it, miles upstream.

thing agaid.”

The sheik is pristine stables.
blue grass and hunt club. The
rainbow is wild, wild west,
Kusy said.’

It would te like packing gild-
ed tea cups to a high chaparral
camp fire, wilth old-time cow-
boy star Rory Calhoun spinning
tal! tales over tin cups of raw
whiskey.

Indeed, Western movie-star

Rory Calhoun owned the ranch

in the 1950s. He briefly toyed

mnd you. from anyptace a Los i, ith TRt 1dea of turning it into

weles {ly [fisherman could
‘pe o gel to.
lealtor-to-the-wealthy Jay
sy ol Ventura sajd il is
‘vaiting a special buyer. a rug-

a dude ranch baut decided to
keep 1t as his personal retreat
[rom the last lane and relished
its wildness.

Calhoun Onally sold it to the

d sort who longs lor Montana _Boy Scouts. who dubbed it the

"duess bul who niust remain
se Lo Los angeles.

A certain Lhird-world sheik
.ent. for instance. who has the

ney. would be offended if Ranch, so-named in 1979 by

sy showed the ranch te him,
sv said. "[ doubt if I'd be
~ked to show the sheik any-

Circle B Ranch. They used it
for Jamborees and summer
camps.

Today, the Rainbow Valley

Sanlord Drucker of Qjai, who

bought it [rom the Boy Scouts,
remaius rugged and raw and all

ADTE U, 1994

Heritage: The original structure that was part of this mail-riders’ stop, right, has bee
incorgorated into the present house configuration. Over the years, a number of owne:
have added touches to modemize the horne, but it still maintains its ruslic appeal.

natural, just as it has always
been.

No gliz ailowed.

Located one-mountain over
[rom Rose Valley, the ranch is
about 18 miles north ol Ojai. It
is gated and private. Few peo-

ple are allowed visils.

Appoiutments are necessary
to see the ranch. Kusy. who
until recently worked in Monte-
cito. has since joined Coldwell
Banker in Veniura.

*{t's n unique picce ol prop-

erty ... Evew though ivs only 1t
acres. it feels like 30.001 acr
because it is surrgunded by U
Los Padres.” Kusy said.

Thie Sespe Wildermess An
sits jusl across its propoer
Please see WILDERNESS.C

3roker masters the art of gathering information

~ Like Columbo: Bob

v ceaa VY

Vou wight 2y 1t Qimetivns ke

4 chamsv-looking steet a.

N R

R Y

danr, boan fen 20 vut inte e
d o o my Jelumbo ron-

iz the Rhwew-noss
Pogdve thenm the »p
leUs Jav. ey re )
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DEPARTMENT OF PAHKSANDH . AEATION HABS HAER

5‘ 3 \ ‘NR SHL ____ loc
.- UtM™: A B
HETORIC RESOURCES INVENTORY C D
IDENTIFICATION R
1. Common name: _ Rainbow Valley Rarich - Circle B Ranch
2. Historic name: Lathrop Camp aka Hotel Sespe
3. Sweetor rural address: 19737 Rainbow Valley Road }
City Ciai Zip_93023 County___Ventura
4. Parcel number: 015-0-010-140
5. Present Owner: Sanford I. Drucker Address: 2330 Century Hill
City Los Angeles Zip 90076 Ownership is: Public Private _ X
6. Present Use: Private residence Original use:  Farm, resort hotel, weather station
DESCRIPTION
7a. Architectural style: 3 log cabins, logs cut on the property
7b. Briefly describe the present phys:caf description of the site or structure and dascribe any majar alterations from its

original condition:

The Lathrop Camp was originallya group of three cabins, two with a common
wall. The third cabin faced the others about 6' east of them, the cabins
are now joined by a bathroom and entry hall. Cabin #1 is 26' 4" by 15"
and has a fireplace at the -west end. Cabin #2 with the common wall is
28' 6" by 15' 6". Cabin #3 is 20' 2" by 15' 5" with a fireplace. Four
rooms were added in 1905 and others at a later date. The original roof
line has been lost and there is a tin roof currently in need of repair.

Another house of cement block is on the property and local architects
have dated it to the early 1900's. This house has four rooms with 9°
ceilings. There 1s another cabin on the property that was bullt around

1955.

Attach Photo{s} Here 8. Construction date: _
Estimated _@_Q__ Factual

9. Architect

10. Buiider

11. Approx. property size {in feet) .
Frontage Depth. .
s 16(‘5-l acres
or approx. acreage

12. Datels) of enciosed photograph{s}
January 1984

DPR 523 (Rev. 4/79)



13.

14.

18,
16.

17.

18

[s the structure:

Related features:

N \

Condition: Excellent Good Fair _X_ Deteriorated __ No longer in existe;u:e
Alterations: 4 rooms added in 1905, others at =z later date '
Surroundings: {Check more than one if necessaryl Open land Scattered buildings X Oensely built-up
Residerrtial Industrial Commercial Other:
Threats to site: None known X___Private development Zoning ____ Vandalism
Public Works project Other:
On its original site? __% = Moved? Unknown?

"SIGNIFICANCE -
Briefly state historical and/or architectural importance {include dates, events. and persons associated with the site.) .

19

20.

21.

22. Date form prepared

" the total number of rangers to 13.

The property was homesteaded in 1894 by William H. Roberts.
It became a popular resort known as Lathrop

It was a favorite spot to pack into for hunting

Herbert Lathrop was appointed a forest ranger in 1900, bringing

In 1905 the property was a weather reporting
Herbert Lathrop was killed accidntly when he was shot on December 29, 1914.
~The Ojai newspaper records many events regarding the property which will be included

Lathrop were farming it in 1900.
Camp or "Hotel Sespe".
and fishing.

station.
on continuation sheets.

History is continued on attached pages.

Main theme of the historic resource: {1f more than one is
checked, number in order of importance.}
Architecture X Arts & Leisure

Economic/Industrial __._ Explorarion/Settlement
Government Military
Retigion Social/Education

Sources {List books, documents, surveys, personal interviews

and their dates).
Survey map 3/31/85

Many newspaper articles listed on
continuation sheets

January 5, 1984
Joan L. Leister

By (name)

Organization

Address: 19737 Rainbow Valley Road
City Qjai Zip_93023
Phone: 647-2329

Apple orchard planted about 1898

Paul and Herbert

Locational sketch map {draw and labef site and
surrounding streets, roads, and prominent landmarks}:
NORTH
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ATTACHMENT
BISTORY OF LATHROP CAMP :

The earliest information regarding this property is in the form
of a survey map dated March 31, 1885. This map shows a house
on the property, but it is not known if it is the present one.

(I have chosen to use newspaper clippings and other written
information as opposed to word-of-mouth interviews to document
this property. I find person-to-person interviews can be
contradictory.)

1894 -~ The property was homesteaded by William H. Roberts.
His patent was dated July 9%, 1894, and recorded March 29,
1895,
(Inez Haase, April 12, 1895)

1300 - Paul Lathrop is farming in the Upper Sespe. He has
3500"' of water pipeline, an orchard, grain field, a
dairy herd, a house with a fireplace and twc barns,
one is new.

{(The Ojai, June 16, 1900)

Herbert Lathrop has been appcointed forest ranger,
~making a total of 13 patrolmen.
(The 0jai, Augqust 11, 1900)

1502 -~ On May 29, 1902, the property was transferred from
Melvin Hurst to Walter H. Lathrop.
(County Recorder's Office, Book 83, Page 234}

1904 - It is said that Herb Lathrop has been very industrious
lately in fixing up his ranch and cabin for his social
season. We hear, tcoo, that he, with the help of Kellogg
and others, has swept the porch, cleaned and got every-
thing in first class shape. A party comprised of Mrs.
Dickey, Miss Hopkins, Miss Grace Hopkins, Miss Averell,
Miss Horn, Miss Cochrane and Mr. Arnold went over a
week ago Wednesday, returning Thursday by Matilija.
They all declare they had the time of their lives,
and they think, as the boys do, that Sespe and Herb's
flapjacks are about right.

{The Oijai, Thatcher School News, March 26, 1504)

Herb Lathrop came across the mountains from his popular
"Hotel Sespe" to take in the 4th. He found Nordhoff
deserted. The people all gone to Ventura, stores
closed, and the only one that met his anxious gaze

was Mr. Raddick sitting in fromof his billiard hall.

(The 0Ojai, July 7, 1904)



1905 - Herbert Lathrop came: across the mountains: Thursday

1906

1907

and reported the total rainfall at his place was 17.09
inches.. This does not include the .last few days' rain.
(The Ojai, February -4, 1905)
Lathrop is building a 4 room addition to his "Hotel."
(The Ojai, February 18, 1905

Herb Lathrop the "Sespe Hotel" manager, passed through
Nordhoff on his way to Los Angeles Thursday evening.
Herbert says he is not bothered with automobiles in his
country.

(The 0Ojai, April 22, 1905)

Paul Lathrop, who returned about two weeks ago from

an extended trip east, is much improved in health.

He visited Buffalo, N. Y., Leavenworth, Kansas and
many other eastern places. He brought with him Herbert
Lathrop, his brother from Willink, N. ¥., and E4d Hull,
an o0ld friend from Leavenworth, Kansas.

(The Ojai, January 13, 1906)

The Sespe trip last week was one of the most enjoyable
ones of the winter. The party consisted of Mr. Colton,
Park Arnett, Whitall, Star and the Allens. After
exploring the caves and crevices of Peidra Blanca

on Saturday, the party went back to Lathreop's, where
they heartily partook of the refreshments served by
the genial "Herb." The cravings of the inner man

thus satisfied, everyone forgot his tired limbs in

an exciting game of seven and a half, which lasted
well into the: night.

(The Ojai, Thatcher School News, March 3, 1906}

Paul Lathrop returned Wednesday from New York where
he spent the winter.
(The Ojai, June 16, 1906)

Herbert Lathrop reports nearly six inches of rainfall
on the banks of the Sespe.
(The Ojai, December 15, 1906)

" Herbert Lathrop came over the moutain Thursday as a

guide to a number of Thatcher School students, who
had spent their vacation in the Sespe. Herb reports
fifteen inches of rain in the recent storm. He also
reports more snow in the mountains than he has seen
in a long time. Pine Mountain is completely covered,
with only the white enameled pines projecting through
the white crust.

(The ©Ojai, January 12, 1907)

-J-



1912

1914

Last Saturday, after dinner, a party consisting of
Sperry, Wilkinson and A. Kent started for the Sespe,
accompanied by Mr. William Kent and Mr. Greene. On
the way over, Mr. Kent's horse fell with him this

side of Barrows, but no damage was done. They arrived
at Lathrop's Camp about 6:30. Here they found Miss
Slater, Mrs. Hunt, Hertenstein and Slater.

(The Ojai, Thatcher School News, April 13, 1907)

Messrs. Jesse Maddrell, George C. Bartlett and H. Wolfe,
Oxnard businessmen, stopped at the 0jai Inn Thursday

on their way to Lathrop Camp to spend a few days fishing.
(The Ojai, June 8, 1907)

Herbert Lathrop, who came in from the Sespe Thursday,
said that he had 100 boxes of apples from the first
picking. This is all the fruit that can be stored

for the winter and sold next spring when the price

will justify bringing them out. Besides these Herb will
have another 100 boxes of apples fit to be used for
cider and stock feed.

(The Ojai, October 12, 1907)

The prevailing high price of apples has induced Herb
Lathrop to pack some ¢f his excellent fruit out from
the Sespe.

{The Cijai, December 14, 1907)

Paul Lathrop, father of Herbert, died of a stroke
at the Ojai Inn on March 3, 1912. It was noted in
the Ojai paper on April 5, 1912.

Herbert Lathrop, aged 38, and Mary V. Harrow, age 17,
were married in Los Angeles last Saturday. This came

as a surprise to many who did not know Herb was inclined
to matrimony.

(The 0jai, June 28, 1912)

Herb Lathrop and wife and baby are over from their
home in the Sespe. The baby, who is not guite a year
0ld, is becoming quite adept at horseback riding,

this being his eighth trip over the trail. Mr. and
Mrs. Lathrop are enroute to Los Angeles where they are
taking their son for medical treatment.

{(The Ojai, January 2, 1914)

In November, 1914, Herb bought a player piano, dismantled
it, packed it over the mountain on muleback and reassembled
it on his ranch.

{Charles Qutland, Chronological List of Ojai Valley

News Items, 1871-1915)




"HERBERT LATHROP FATALLY SHOT BY ACCIDENT", headlines
of the January 1, 1915 paper. Herbert Lathrop was
shot by friend, Floyd Perritt, pitcher for the Los
Angeles Nine. He mistook him for a wildcat.

There was a question brought up regarding the age
of the cabin. The cabins were built scmetime either

late 1800's or very early 1900's.

The method of putting the logs together is of Swedish
handhewn dovetailing. The logs were cut on the property

and were handhewn with a broadaxe. The entire building
was first put on the ground, but to help in the preserva-
tion it was raised to a foundation. The corner referred

to by Ms. Haase has never been raised, but will be

in the near future. In the book, Living With Logs,
Hancock House Publishers, by Donovan Clemson, there
is: an excellent article and illustration of this type
of construction.

The Matilija fire was also a question. After being
assured by William Friend that the building was not
burned, I conducted more research and found an article
in the 0jail newspaper which follows:

The Lathrop barn, hay and outbuildings burned Sunday
and the Harrow barn, hay, chicken house and other
outbuildings went but the houses in both cases were
saved.

(The Gjai, September 15, 1932)

JOAN L. LEISTER, Caretaker

June,

1984



HOMESTEAD OF THE CIRCLE B

The property was homesteaded by William H. Roberts. His patent was
dated 9 July 1894 and recorded 29 March 1895 (County of Ventura, °
Homestead Patents, Book 2, Page 222)

No check was made on the transfer of Deed, but apparently by 1900 -
the property was in the ownership of Paul Lathrop, who had at the
time several acres of truck gardens, an orchard, grain and alfalfa
fields which were watered by a 3500 foot water pipe from the Sespe,
a dairy herd from which he supplied the settlers and campers with
milk and butter, a neat and comfortable “"old-fashioned" house with
a large fireplace and two barns (one was a large new one) (The Ojai,
16 June 1900)

That same year, Herb, his son was appointed a Forest Ranger (The
0jai, 11 August 1900)

It was not uncommon for these Rose Valley-Piedra Blanca settlers
to make some sort of quest accommodations for hunters and campers.
Ed Rich (who left the area in 1905), the Lathrops and Pattons all
had "Resorts" of a kind.

By 1905 Herb Lathrop had taken over the property and was building
a four room addition to his "Hotel" {either referred to as “"Hotel

Lathrop" or "Sespe Hotel") (The Ojai, 22 April 1905. The Qjai
generally placed gquotes arocund Hotel)

In. November 1914 Herb bought a player piano, dismantled it, packed
it over the mountain on muleback and reassembied it on his ranch.
(Ventura Free Press, 27 November 1914). A month later Herb, mis-
taken for a mountain lion was shot and killed {Ventura Free Press,
1 January 1915) (The above two items are from Charles F. Outland,
Chronolggical List of 0jai Valley News Items, 1871-1915

John K. Reid, an old time Forest Service Fire Guard, who patrolled
the Upper Sespe in the late 1930's, remembers the ranch as "a guest
ranch of sorts" which was called the Circle B {letter, Reid to
Haase, dated 30 March 1984)

MATILIJA FIRE

Considered one of the most destructive fires in California history
(in acres), -the Matilija Fire started at 10:00 A.M. on 7 September
1932 in Matilija Canyon, about seven miles west of Lyons Hot Springs
and by the time it was out on 20 September it had burned a total of
219,254 acres.

Everything in its path was either destroyed or nearly destroyed.
Some ranch structures along the Upper Sespe survived but others
did not.
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